IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MERRIT ALONZO SIMS, Appellant, -vs-STATE OF FLORIDA,

) On At

IDA,)the ElevenAppellee.)for Dade C

Case No. SC04-1879

Lower Tribunal No. F91-22048 On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida.

SUPPLEMENTAL INITIAL AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

P. Benjamin Duke admitted *pro hac vice* COVINGTON & BURLING LLP 1330 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10019 Telephone: (212) 841-1000 Facsimile: (646) 441-9072

Benjamin S. Waxman ROBBINS, TUNKEY, ROSS, AMSEL, RABEN, WAXMAN & EIGLARSH, P.A. 2250 Southwest Third Avenue, 4th Floor Miami, FL 33129 Telephone: (305) 858-9550 Facsimile: (305) 858-7491

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Pursuant to this Court's Order dated April 3, 2006 (the "April 3 Order"), the Circuit Court (L. Schwartz, J.) conducted an evidentiary hearing over four days from July 24 to July 27, 2006, solely concerning "whether defense counsel's performance was deficient for not challenging the canine-alert testimony presented by [the police dog handler] and/or for not moving to strike that testimony" once defense counsel learned that the State was going to exploit it as the basis for introducing additional highly prejudicial testimony by Mr. Sims' parole officer. (*Id.* at 1.)¹ Thereafter, the lower court issued an Order dated August 8, 2006 (the "August 8 Order"), concluding that the performance of Mr. Sims' trial counsel was not deficient. (Supp. ROA at 706).

Contrary to the lower court's conclusion, the evidence presented at the July 2006 hearing – including the testimony of both of Mr. Sims' former trial counsel, Clinton Pitts and Arthur Carter, and Steven Potolsky, a noted expert on the prevailing standards of capital defense representation in Florida –

¹ This Court already has held unanimously that the canine-alert testimony relied upon by the State at trial was "clearly prejudicial" to Mr. Sims, because it was "essential to the State's argument that Sims' motive for shooting Officer Stafford was to avoid being found in violation of the terms of his conditional release and returned to prison." (*Id.*) Thus, this Court already has held that the "prejudice" prong of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), has been met, and the April 3 Order directed the lower court to conduct an evidentiary hearing solely concerning the "deficient performance" prong of *Strickland*. The background facts relevant to this Supplemental Brief on Appeal are set forth at pages 9-11, and 54, of Appellant's Amended Initial Brief.

overwhelmingly demonstrated that the performance of Mr. Sims' trial counsel was deficient.² Both Pitts and Carter directly admitted that they had *no* strategic basis for failing to object to or move to strike the "clearly prejudicial" dog-alert testimony at trial, even though they knew full well that it had no probative value and was therefore irrelevant and inadmissible. (See, e.g., Supp. T. 51-52, 56-58, 145-49.) Moreover, Pitts and Carter were not in a position to make a reasonable strategic choice regarding this issue, because they failed to do any investigation or discover the abundant additional evidence that would have cemented any challenge to the dog-alert testimony. The hearing record makes plain that Pitts and Carter repeatedly and inexcusably missed repeated opportunities to lodge an objection to this testimony and thereby either (i) bar the testimony from the trial or, (ii) if the trial court had erroneously admitted irrelevant and "clearly prejudicial" testimony over objection, preserve a meritorious issue for direct appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. In its August 8 Order, the lower court improperly attempts to excuse counsel's derelictions by ignoring the point-blank admissions of Mr. Sims' trial counsel at the July 2006 hearing. Although the lower court said it found Pitts

² For the sake of brevity, this Supplemental Brief assumes familiarity with Mr. Sims' prior briefs on this appeal, including the Statement of Facts in Mr. Sims' Amended Initial Brief on Appeal, and the relevant record, other than the supplemental evidentiary record developed in connection with the July 24-27, 2006 evidentiary hearing.

to be generally "credible" and said nothing to discredit Carter, the August 8 Order completely fails even to acknowledge, much less address, any of these admissions, and fails to confront the multiple discrete instances in which Mr. Sims' counsel fell down on the job. Each of these instances alone is sufficient to establish trial counsel's deficient performance. Cumulatively, they are overwhelming.

II. The lower court erred as a matter of law by failing to apply the well-established legal standard of Strickland v. Washington, supra, which requires counsel to have an *objectively reasonable*, *strategic* grounding for their decisions at trial. See 466 U.S. at 688. Moreover, the lower court compounded this legal error by mischaracterizing as an "issue for direct appeal" and consequently ignoring trial counsel's deficiency in failing to make a motion to strike after Mr. Sims' parole officer, Essie Lynn, was called to the stand. The August 8 Order relies upon erroneous findings concerning Pitts' subjective state of mind which, even if they were correct, would not identify an objectively reasonable strategic basis for counsel's egregious omissions. Far from applying the proper test under Strickland, the one-paragraph analysis in the August 8 Order does not support the lower court's legal conclusion, but merely coats counsel's failures with a misleading veneer of explanation that is neither reasonable nor strategic.

III. Even if Pitts and Carter had made a deliberate choice to forgo objection to this "clearly prejudicial" evidence – which they plainly did not do –

3

the failure to object or move to strike was objectively unreasonable and therefore deficient as a matter of law. It is beyond dispute that, under the Florida Rules of Evidence, the dog-alert testimony introduced by the prosecution at trial was irrelevant and therefore inadmissible. The lower court itself characterized the dog-alert evidence as utterly speculative, declaring that the dog could have alerted "to anything and everything," including the dog's handler merely "saying the sky is blue." (Supp. T. 419-20.) Nothing in Pitts' or Carter's testimony at the hearing could support a reasonable justification for not objecting here. Moreover, Pitts and Carter were oblivious to the additional evidence that prompted the lower court's finding of irrelevance, because they had failed to lift a finger to investigate or develop any challenge to the dog-alert evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT TURNED A BLIND EYE TO MULTIPLE ADMISSIONS BY BOTH PITTS AND CARTER THAT THEY HAD NO STRATEGIC BASIS FOR FAILING TO CHALLENGE THE DOG-ALERT TESTIMONY.

The August 8 Order simply ignores the repeated admissions by both Pitts and Carter that they had *no* strategic basis for failing to object to or move to strike the dog-alert testimony at several distinct junctures in Mr. Sims' trial. *First*, the lower court ignores counsel's admissions that they failed, without reason, to object to or move to preclude the dog-alert testimony prior to trial, despite receiving clear advance notice of the State's purported motive theory and its intention to introduce the dog handler's testimony at trial. On or before January 3, 1994, several days before trial commenced, the State filed an *in limine* motion (on a different issue) which explicitly provided Mr. Sims' counsel with a preview of the State's theory. (Trial T. 383; Supp. ROA 183-86.) At the 2006 hearing, Pitts admitted that he believed the dog-alert testimony was irrelevant and therefore inadmissible (Supp. T. 50-52), and he had no strategic reason for failing to object to or move to preclude it:

Q.: Did you consider making a motion . . . to preclude the State from putting on the dog handler testimony?

[Pitts]: No.

Q.: Did you have any discussion with Mr. Carter about that? [Pitts]: No. ...

Q. My question Mr. Pitts is, did you have any strategic reason for not making a motion to preclude the dog handler's testimony?

[Pitts]: No.

(Id. at 51-52.) Mr. Carter made the same admission. (Id. at 145-46.)

<u>Second</u>, both Pitts and Carter admitted having no strategic basis for sitting silent when the dog handler, Officer Silvia, was called to the stand and testified at trial: they failed to object to his testimony generally or to a single question posed to Silvia by the prosecution. (*Id.* at 57, 148.) In addition to believing that Silvia's testimony was irrelevant, Pitts acknowledged that any evidence associating a murder defendant such as Mr. Sims with illegal drugs would be prejudicial (*id.* at 57), and therefore could influence the jury. Furthermore, he explicitly admitted that he had no reason for failing to object to such "clearly

prejudicial" testimony when it was introduced:

- Q.: [Upon reviewing the transcript of Officer Silvia's testimony prior to this hearing], [d]id you note whether there were any objections made by you or by Mr. Carter in response to Officer Silva's testimony?
- [Pitts]: That was surprising that there were none.
 - Q.: And did you have any at the time did you have any did you or Mr. Carter have any strategic reason for not objecting to that testimony?
- [Pitts]: Not that I recall at this time.
 - Q.: And in your understanding at the time of Mr. Sims trial, were there professional standards of performance that you were expected to meet as a defense counsel in a capital case?
- [Pitts]: I am sure there was.
 - Q.: Do you expect yourself to meet those standards?
- [Pitts]: Yes.
 - Q.: And did those standards include making appropriate objections to adverse evidence against your client?
- [Pitts]: Yes.
 - Q.: Now, based upon your reviews of the transcript, not objecting to Officer Silva's testimony at trial, do you believe you met those standards?
- [Pitts]: Looking back at it today?
 - Q.: Yes[.]
- [Pitts]: No.

(Id. at 56-57.) Mr. Pitts further testified that "not objecting" to this testimony was

"improper." (Id. at 58.)

In his testimony Carter also stated that he believed the dog-alert

evidence was irrelevant (and therefore inadmissible) (id. at 137-138), and

prejudicial (*id.* at 145), and he confirmed the absence of any strategic rationale for failing to object to Officer Silvia's testimony when it was introduced:

Q.: And so – but you just indicated that based upon the record that you reviewed you didn't see any objection [to Officer Silvia's testimony] on the record, correct?

[Carter]: Right.

Q.: And did you have any strategic reason for not placing an objection on the record at that point in time?

[Carter]: Not that I can think of.

(*Id.* at 148-49.) Carter further testified that Pitts never suggested any strategic rationale for not objecting to Silvia's testimony. (*Id.* at 149.) Moreover, he never discussed with his client, Mr. Sims, the question of whether to object to the dogalert testimony, nor did Mr. Sims ever agree that such clearly prejudicial testimony would be allowed in without objection by his counsel. (*Id.*)

Third, both Pitts and Carter admitted at the 2006 hearing that they had no strategic basis for their failure to move to strike Officer Silvia's testimony when, immediately after Silvia testified, the State exploited that testimony as the predicate for introducing the testimony of Mr. Sims' parole officer, Essie Lynn, concerning his parole status. On direct appeal, this Court held that Lynn's otherwise inadmissible testimony only "became relevant and admissible" after the predicate dog-alert testimony was introduced by the State *without any objection by Sims. See Sims v. State*, 681 So.2d 1112, 1115 (Fla. 1996). During the trial, Carter orally argued to the trial court Mr. Sims' objection to Lynn's testimony, protesting strenuously that Lynn's testimony would be "highly prejudicial" to Mr. Sims.

(Trial T. at 1104.). At the 2006 hearing, Carter acknowledged that he understood that – as this Court subsequently confirmed – Lynn's testimony was inadmissible as a matter of law without the dog-alert testimony as a predicate. (Supp. T. 155.) As Carter understood at the time, and as this Court's holding on direct appeal logically dictates, a successful motion to strike the dog-alert would have barred the jury from considering or hearing both Silvia's *and* Lynn's testimony, thereby depriving the State of its only theory of motive at trial. (*Id.* at 155-56.)

At the hearing, Carter admitted that he had no explanation for failing to move to strike Officer Silvia's testimony, even though he considered it devoid of probative content and therefore irrelevant:

- Q.: And now in your understanding was the dog alert testimony of Officer Silv[i]a the predicate for the State's proffer of the Essie Lynn testimony?
- [Carter]: Yes.
 - Q.: If the dog alert testimony was inadmissible, then the Essie Lynn testimony would be inadmissible?

[Carter]: Reasonably, yes.

Q.: ... Did you consider making a motion to strike the dog alert testimony at that point?

[Carter]: No, I did not.

- Q.: Did you discuss that with Mr. Pitts?
- [Carter]: I don't know if we did or not.

Q.: Did you have any strategic reason for not moving to strike the dog alert testimony?

[Carter]: No.

Q.: And you just missed that, didn't you?

[Carter]: Seems that way, yes.

(*Id.* at 155-56.) Similarly, Pitts admitted that he had no reason for failing to move to strike the dog-alert testimony after it became clear that the State would use it to pry open the door for Essie Lynn's "highly prejudicial" testimony:

Q.: Do you recall in connection with your objection to Ms. Lynn's testimony, did you have any discussion with Mr. Carter regarding making a Motion to Strike the dog alert testimony that had just come in?

[Pitts]: No.

Q.: Did you have any strategic reason at that point for not moving to strike the dog alert testimony?

[Pitts]: No.

(*Id.* at 62; *see also id.* at 108-09 (no recollection of any decision not to make motion to strike in this case).) Thus, Mr. Sims' trial counsel admitted that they failed for no reason to challenge the dog-alert evidence, even after it became obvious that the direct consequence of Silvia's testimony was – in Carter's own words at the time – "highly prejudicial" to Mr. Sims. (Trial T. 1104:14.)

Moreover, this failure to move to strike the dog-alert testimony did not result from a split-second oversight made in the heat of courtroom battle. To the contrary, after an objection to Lynn's testimony was raised on Friday, January 7, 1994, the trial judge adjourned the trial for the weekend and directed "both sides" to "brief me" on its admissibility. Thereafter, the State filed a written brief that the trial court reviewed (*see* ROA Dir. 456; T. 1103), but Mr. Sims' attorneys failed to file anything. Even with a weekend to think and write about it, Mr. Sims' counsel never put pen to paper and never moved to strike the "clearly prejudicial" dog-alert testimony that they had incompetently allowed the jury to hear without objection. Not a single one of the admissions by Pitts and Carter set forth above is mentioned in the lower court's August 8 Order.

II. THE LOWER COURT FAILED TO APPLY THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARD UNDER *STRICKLAND*, AND ITS FINDINGS DO NOT ARTICULATE ANY STRATEGIC RATIONALE FOR COUNSEL'S REPEATED FAILURES TO OBJECT.

The trial court failed to apply the fundamental standard under the Strickland test requiring counsel to meet "an objective standard of reasonableness' based on 'prevailing professional norms,'" Ragsdale v. State, 798 So.2d 713, 715 (Fla. 2001) (emphasis added) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688), and failed to honor the principle that, although counsel may not be deemed ineffective for decisions made pursuant to a "sound trial strategy," Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 984 (Fla. 2000), a purportedly 'strategic' decision cannot be held reasonable unless the attorney *both* adequately investigated his options *and* "ma[d]e a reasonable choice between them." Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 573 (Fla. 1996) (quoting Horton v. Zant, 941 F.2d 1449, 1462 (11th Cir. 1991)). Ignoring the constitutional requirement that counsel's decisions must be "objectively reasonable," the August 8 Order instead recites a handful of findings solely concerning Pitts' subjective state of mind. The lower court's analysis fails to identify any coherent strategic

choice by Pitts to forgo objection, and even under the circumstances found any such choice would have been objectively unreasonable.

A. The Lower Court's Finding That Pitts Thought the Trial Court Had "Already" Ruled On the Dog-Alert Evidence Is Unfounded and Erroneous as a Matter of Law.

To begin with, the lower court's reliance upon Pitts' purported subjective belief that "the trial judge had already rendered rulings on the presentation and admission of the 'dog sniff' testimony" (Supp. ROA 706), makes no sense and does not support the court's legal conclusion. The August 8 Order makes no attempt to identify at what point in the trial proceedings these "rulings" had supposedly "already" taken place. Certainly, no such ruling had been made when the State filed its motion *in limine* before trial and placed Pitts and Carter on notice of the prosecution's highly prejudicial motive theory. (Trial T. 383-87.) To the contrary, in ruling on the distinct issue raised by the *in limine* motion, the trial court expressly *declined* to rule on the State's motive theory and admonished the prosecutors: "I don't want you to be accusing somebody... of transporting drugs if there is no evidence there were drugs in the car." (Supp. T. 201; Trial T. 387.) At the 2006 hearing, the State itself characterized this statement as "the ruling given by the Court" at that time, and Pitts agreed. (Supp. T. 201.)³ Hence, the lower

³Carter recalled at the July 2006 hearing that he thought at the time that the trial court had actually ruled in favor of Mr. Sims (*i.e.*, that the dog-alert testimony would *not* be admitted). (Supp. T. 148.) Highlighting the deficiency of counsel's (continued...)

court's vague finding is flatly refuted not only by Pitts' testimony but also by the State's explicit position that the trial court did *not* rule against Mr. Sims on this issue.

Thus, even if Pitts at some later point believed that such a ruling had been made, the trial court plainly had not made any such ruling at that juncture, nor did Pitts believe that it had. Since the issue was not raised again until after Officer Silvia had testified at trial – without any objection by Mr. Sims' counsel – this statement in the August 8 Order concerning Pitts' subjective understanding cannot justify trial counsel's failure to object to Silvia's testimony either before trial or when Silvia was called to the stand. As noted in Part I above, trial counsel expressly admitted at the hearing that they had no strategic reason for failing to object to the State's introduction of Silvia's testimony. (*Id.* at 56-56; 148-49.) The lower court's finding regarding Pitts' subjective belief at some unspecified point does nothing to diminish the glaring deficiency of trial counsel's performance.

B. Even If the Trial Court Had "Ruled," Trial Counsel's Failure to Object and Preserve the Record Was Objectively Unreasonable.

Furthermore, even assuming that Pitts at some point believed the trial court had "ruled" on this issue, Pitts and Carter were no less deficient for failing to

performance here, Carter testified that consequently all he and Pitts had to do to keep Silvia off the stand was to "remind the judge of his prior ruling." (*Id.* at 193.)

object to the dog-alert testimony in order to preserve the issue for appeal.⁴ Pitts himself admitted that "in a situation in a capital defense trial if you can preserve an objection to something and still carry out your strategy you would do that," and that he had no reason to believe that he had consciously "departed from that princip[le]" in Mr. Sims' case. (*Id.* at 113.) The August 8 Order does not identify a choice by counsel to abandon the option of seeking to exclude the dog-alert testimony entirely, nor would there have been any rational basis for such a choice.⁵

Indeed, under *Strickland* trial counsel are constitutionally deficient even when they make an affirmative decision not to object, where counsel makes an illusory choice by unreasonably abandoning one of two alternatives that were not mutually exclusive. For example, in *Medina v. DiGuglielmo*, 461 F.3d 417, 428-29 (3d Cir. 2006), counsel failed to object to testimony by a witness whose competency should have been challenged, purportedly because he wanted to

⁴ "Failure to properly preserve an issue for appellate review may constitute ineffective assistance of counsel." *Johnson v. State*, 888 So.2d 122, 125 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); *accord Atkins v. Alabama*, 932 F.2d 1430, 1432 (11th Cir. 1991); *Jackson v. State*, 711 So.2d 1371, 1372 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); *Ross v. State*, 726 So.2d 317, 319 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

⁵ Trial counsel's lack of any affirmative "strategy" not to object is confirmed not only by Pitts' and Carter's multiple admissions in that regard, but also by Pitts' reaction upon reading the transcript and finding no objection: "I just couldn't believe it" (Supp. T. 59; *id*. at 57.) Pitts weakly speculated that the issue of Silvia's testimony might have been discussed off the record, but he admitted that it was his obligation to preserve any objection *on the record*, and that "the record speaks for itself." (*Id*.) *Cf. Mathis v. State*, -- So.2d ----, 2006 WL 3017251 (Fla. 1st DCA October 25, 2006) (failure to ensure preservation by objecting on record was objectively unreasonable).

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