IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1879

MERRIT ALONZO SIMS,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MARGARITA I. CIMADEVILLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0616990
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5654

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

Defendant claims that, at the very least, counsel was ineffective for failing to make an objection that would have preserved the issue for appeal. "To support a claim ineffective assistance of trial counsel, not only must the defendant demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient, he must also demonstrate that this deficiency affected the outcome of the trial proceedings." Pope v. State, 569 So. 2d 1241, 1245 (Fla. 1990)(citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)(emphasis added)). Showing that if the canine evidence had been admitted over objection Defendant would have been entitled to a new trial is not dispositive. Id. "A showing that there is a reasonable probability that trial counsel's failure . . . actually compromised the defendant's right to a fair trial is required to support a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel." Id. (emphasis added) Defendant does not explain what factual determination needs to be made about this claim. In order for a claim to be facially sufficient, a defendant must make more than a conclusory assertion of both deficiency and Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 207. Because Defendant has not sufficiently alleged that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of his trial would have been affected by counsel's alleged failure to object to the canine alert evidence, the trial court's summary denial of this claim was proper.

B. CRIME SCENE EXPERT

Defendant next alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the State's crime scene testimony. This claim was properly summarily denied by the lower as the claim is facially insufficient.

Defendant generally alleged that reasonably competent counsel would have retained a crime scene reconstruction expert to assist in the cross examination of the State's crime scene expert, or to provide testimony that would explain how the physical evidence was consistent with Defendant's version of the circumstances surrounding the murder. However, Defendant fails to specifically allege what a reconstruction expert would have testified to in this regard. In his amended motion, Defendant claimed that it was difficult to make specific assertions with respect to this claim, as he was still awaiting responses to multiple public records requests. Having received such records, Defendant's allegation remained to be expanded upon with facts supporting it. Accordingly the lower court's summary denial was proper.

This is particularly true in light of the record. During the cross examination of Det. Galan, the State's crime scene investigator, defense counsel asked several questions establishing that there was no way to tell whether the shell casings had been found in the exact place where they had originally fallen, after being ejected from the gun, and that it was possible that the casings had been kicked or otherwise moved. (DAT. 1345) Furthermore, during closing arguments, defense counsel addressed in detail how the physical evidence was consistent with Defendant's story. Having failed to allege sufficiently ineffective assistance, Defendant's claim fails on its face. Ragsdale. Accordingly, the lower court's summary denial was proper and should, therefore, be affirmed.

C. STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the State's allegedly improper summation. This claim is procedurally barred and without merit.

Defendant specifically contends that counsel should have objected to portions of the summation where Defendant alleges that: (i) the State called Defendant a liar; (ii) the State injected personal opinion; (iii) the State suggested that

defendants habitually allege police officers threaten to kill arrestees and that the Officer should have killed Defendant; (iv) the State attacked defense counsel by suggesting the Defendant's testimony was rehearsed; (v) the mischaracterized evidence by stating that defense counsel had not asked witness Otis Robinson if he had seen Defendant's picture in the paper prior to his line-up identification of Defendant when in fact defense counsel had asked the question; (vi) the State mischaracterized evidence by stating that counsel had misled the jury during his closing by stating that Defendant had testified he had turned his back not to get shot at when in fact Defendant had testified to that fact; (vii) the State mischaracterized evidence when the prosecutor dropped to his knees during closing argument which suggested that there was evidence that Officer Stafford was kneeling down when he was shot; and (viii) the prosecutor bolstered his own credibility by referring to the motto "those of us who labor here" which is displayed in some courtrooms and by stating he could not make up evidence.

This Court has held that claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to allegedly improper comments during closing argument are barred as a matter of law because the issue should have been raised on direct appeal. *Robinson v*.

State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697 & n.17 & 18 (Fla. 1998). As such, this claim is procedurally barred and was properly denied.

Moreover, each and every one of the comments Defendant now claims counsel was ineffective for not objecting to, formed the basis of Claim Number IV on direct appeal. This Court rejected it then. Since this issue was raised and rejected on direct appeal, it is procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). Further, recasting the claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel does not negate the bar. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990). As such, the lower court correctly denied this claim summarily as it is procedurally barred.

Moreover, in *Chandler v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 2003), this Court upheld the lower court's finding that the defendant had not established prejudice under *Strickland*, where this Court had found on direct appeal that the allegedly improper comments by the prosecutor in summation were not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Here, this issue was raised on direct appeal. This Court did not find fundamental error regarding it. As such, under *Chandler*, this claim was properly denied.

Furthermore, Defendant fails to provide any legal support for his allegations that the comments complained of were so inflammatory as to undermine the outcome of the proceedings. Each comment that Defendant claims should have been objected to was either fair comment on the evidence and/or fair response to defense counsel's closing argument.

Defendant first complains that the State improperly accused him of lying. This Court has held that "[w]hen counsel refers to a witness or a defendant as being a 'liar,' and it is understood from the context that the charge is made with reference to testimony given by the person thus characterized, the prosecutor is merely submitting to the jury a conclusion that he is arguing can be drawn from the evidence." Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987); see also Davis v. State, 698 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1997).

Each and every reference to Defendant lying in the State's summation cited by Defendant in his brief was directly preceded or followed by an explanation of how the physical or other evidence presented was inconsistent with Defendant's testimony:

(i) ". . his lies cannot meet the physical evidence" (DAT. 1416); (ii) "I put Dr. Mittleman on to show you this defendant, by the evidence, is a liar" (DAT. 1424); (iii) "You know the physical evidence proves him to be a liar" (DAT. 1425); (iv)

"The physical evidence shows him to be a liar" (DAT. 1430); (v) "He even lies to his own cousin" (DAT. 1433) (referring to Defendant's testimony that he spoke to his cousin after the murder and told her he was bringing back the car and did not do so); and (vi) "they [the items of physical evidence left on the scene] cry out to you that the defendant lied." (DAT. 1438) The only reference to Defendant lying not directly linked to the evidence in the case was a comment by the prosecutor as to the general criteria the jury can use in evaluating a witness' testimony and highlighting that, being the party with the most interest in the outcome of the case, Defendant had the strongest motive to lie. (DAT. 1419) None of these comments impermissible. Therefore, Defendant fails to establish that a failure to object to them was deficient performance by counsel. Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1998)(counsel not ineffective for failing to raise meritless issue); Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992).

Defendant next complains that the State injected personal opinion and testified to matters outside the evidence by stating that in the prosecutor's personal experience defendants often accuse police officers of threatening arrestees and that

Officer Stafford should have killed Defendant when he had the This comment, taken in the proper context, was chance. attempt by the prosecutor to establish the implausibility of Defendant's testimony regarding the threats by Officer Stafford. The remark referred to the fact that Defendant testified the Officer was trying to kill him, and that the Defendant's own version of the events gave Officer Stafford an opportunity to do so had that been his real intention. This comment was not improper as it was fair comment on Defendant's claim of selfdefense. Furthermore, an otherwise improper comment must taken in context and evaluated under a totality of the record. See Darden v. State, 329 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1976)(prosecutor calling defendant an animal was not so inflammatory and abusive as to deprive defendant of a fair trial where defense counsel had used a similar characterization and crimes were uniquely vicious). Since the comment was proper, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to it.

As to Defendant's claim that the first part of the comment was an impermissible reference to matters outside the record, it should be noted that, although generally improper, not every comment on a matter outside the record is necessarily fundamental error. See Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So. 2d 798, (Fla. 1986)(finding that prosecutor's comment regarding defendant's

demeanor while his girlfriend testified did not deprive defendant of a fair trial and prosecutor's comment during penalty phase summation about defendant's statement outside the jury's presence that he would rather be sentenced to death than spend the rest of his life in jail, although improper, were not sufficiently egregious as to fundamentally undermine the reliability of the jury's recommendation of a death sentence); Conley v. State, 592 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)(finding prosecutor's comment stating that counsel's attack on rape victims was the reason many rape victims don't report the crime, although improper, not sufficient to merit reversal).

Defendant next states that trial counsel should have objected to a number of alleged attacks on his integrity when that the prosecutor suggested Defendant's testimony rehearsed. These statements were fair comment on the Defendant's testimony in which Defendant answered almost every other question by stating that he was being choked and that he did not intend to kill Officer Stafford. Furthermore, in light of defense counsel's countless attacks on the State's character and credibility as he repeatedly stated that the State was merely using "smoke screens" to confuse the jury, any similar attack on defense counsel's integrity must be evaluated in said context and found to be fair and invited response. See Whiten v. State,

765 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)(comment bolstering credibility of police witness not improper as invited response to defense's attack on witnesses credibility); Broge v. State, 288 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974)(prosecutor bolstering his own credibility proper rebuttal to defense counsel's allegation that State had suborned perjury). Since the comment was proper, counsel could not be deemed ineffective for failing to object to it.

Defendant next claims that the prosecutor mischaracterized evidence regarding the testimony of Otis Robinson as it pertained to his having seen the Defendant's picture prior to his identification. While the prosecutor misstated that Robinson had never testified that he had seen the Defendant's picture prior to the identification, there is no indication that this misstatement was intentional. Furthermore, the comment was prefaced by the assertion "I do not recall" which not only lessened whatever impact the misstatement may have caused, but also emphasized that it is the juror's recollection of the evidence and not what is argued in summation that controls. See Rich v. State, 807 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2002)(prosecutor's misstatments of the evidence not fundamental error).

Finally, Defendant states that the prosecutor impermissibly bolstered his own credibility by making reference to a motto, which is displayed in some courtrooms that states in substance

that "we who labor here seek only the truth," and then stating that he could not just "make up evidence" and that he had not misled the jury. It is unclear that this comment is in fact a reference to the prosecutor's own credibility as such motto would seem to include defense counsel, the judge and the jury as well. Furthermore, the statement that the prosecutor cannot make up evidence is simply highlighting the fact that the evidence presented speaks for itself. Moreover, in light of defense counsel's running theme during his closing argument that the prosecutor had introduced certain evidence as a smoke screen to confuse the jury, the prosecutor's comment that he had not misled the jury was fair response to defense counsel's attack on his character. See Broge.

To the extent that the comments were improper, Defendant still fails to establish prejudice under Strickland. Trial courts generally give attorneys a great deal of latitude when it comes to summations. Had an objection been made and sustained to any of the comments complained of, the likely remedy would have been to remind the jury that argument is just that, that it does not constitute evidence, and that it is the jury's recollection of the evidence that controls. Furthermore, it is clear from the record that the jury was given the standard instruction explaining that closing arguments do not constitute evidence

both at the beginning of the trial (DAT. 783) and immediately preceding the closing arguments. (DAT. 1377) When evaluating prejudice a court should presume "that the judge or jury acted according to law." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. This court must, therefore, presume that the jury followed that instruction. Thus, Defendant has failed to establish that, but for counsel's error, a reasonable probability of a different outcome exists. The claim was properly denied.

II. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSITANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON AN ALLEGED CONFLICT OF INTEREST.

Defendant asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that his trial counsel Arthur Carter was ineffective due to an actual conflict of interest stemming from the State's investigation of Mr. Carter's alleged overbilling in court appointed cases. This claim is procedurally barred and facially insufficient and was, therefore, properly summarily denied.

Defendant repeatedly cites to articles in the Miami Herald as support of his allegation that trial counsel Arthur Carter was being investigated by the State Attorney's Office at the same time he was representing Defendant. In light of the public forum in which these developments were being discussed at the

time, which included several front-page stories, Defendant must concede, that the facts that form the basis of this alleged conflict were public knowledge. This Court has previously barred a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel predicated on the existence of a conflict of interest where the facts underlying the conflict were public knowledge prior to a Defendant's filing of his post conviction motion. Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1993). This claim should have been brought on direct appeal. As it was not, this claim is procedurally barred.

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